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William Eppes Cormack (1796–1868): 
A Biographical Account of the Early Years 

Ingeborg Marshall and Alan G. Macpherson1

Introduction

William Eppes2 Cormack is celebrated for his walk across the interior 
of the island of Newfoundland in 1822, and for his involvement with 
the Beothuk: his collection of information about Beothuk history and 
culture and his attempts to rescue the Beothuk from extinction. 
Several reports of his interior explorations have been published,3 and 
the information he obtained from the Beothuk woman Shanawdithit, 
the last known member of her people, comprises an important part of 
what is known about Beothuk history and culture.4 A central figure in 
Newfoundland’s history, surprisingly little is known about Cormack’s 
early life, his birth in St. John’s, and his family’s relatively strong ties to 
Newfoundland and to Prince Edward Island. This paper intends to 
close this biographical gap as far as the available documentation will 
allow. It focuses on Cormack’s early years, beginning with the records 
of his father, Alexander Cormack, in Newfoundland, describes the 
family’s documented business interests and the family’s return to 
Scotland after Alexander Cormack’s death, and finishes with what is 
known of William Eppes Cormack’s life up to 1821, when he returned 
to Newfoundland. It also touches on some of the economic, social, and 
civic responsibilities that individuals like Alexander Cormack were 
typically responsible for at that time.

Though this study focuses on the family history of the Cormacks 
and Rennies in St. John’s and their Scottish connections, it also fills in 
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a substantial gap in our knowledge of the business and economic life 
of St. John’s at the end of the eighteenth century and during the early 
nineteenth century.

Alexander Cormack in Newfoundland 

Alexander Cormack (c. 1762–1803), a Protestant Scot and the father of 
William Eppes Cormack, arrived in St. John’s in 1782 at the age of 19 
or 20. The 1794–95 census for St. John’s described him as a “merchant 
in the colony for 12 years.”5 He may have been sent to this outpost as 
an employee of one of the established Scottish firms in St. John’s. 
Newfoundland was one of Britain’s oldest North American possessions 
and St. John’s, a town with about 3,000 inhabitants,6 was the main port 
of call for the Grand Banks fishery and the third point in a triangular 
trade that included Europe and the West Indies.

No records were found disclosing details of Alexander Cormack’s 
life before his arrival, though there is a good record of his life in St. 
John’s.7 It reveals a reliable young man who was, to use the Scottish term, 
“canny,” or capable of making smart decisions in a challenging business 
environment. By 1791 Cormack had become a well-established mem-
ber of the town’s elite and one of the “Principal Merchants of St. John’s” 
who signed petitions and lobbied governors.8 He was also a member of 
the Grand Jury where he was listed alongside members of the town’s 
largest merchant houses.9 Cormack’s numerous appearances in court as 
litigant, suing or being sued in cases concerning trade, reflect some of 
his business interests. He is listed as the owner of three vessels: the 
Nancy, the Rose, and the Two Sisters, and as sharing ownership of the 
55-ton sloop Betsey with the St. John’s firm Hart, Eppes and Co.10 His 
trade transactions extended to Dartmouth, Quebec City, Prince Ed-
ward Island, South America (for molasses), and Grenada Island and 
Suriname in the West Indies. Cormack seems to have become inde-
pendent of larger firms although there is speculation that he may, for a 
time, have been a junior partner with Hart, Eppes and Co.11 

It appears that Alexander Cormack and William Isham Eppes 
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had become friends as well as business associates. Eppes had come to 
Newfoundland from England, but began life in Salem, Massachusetts, 
in 1760.12 His father had died young, leaving his mother, Abigail, with 
five children to raise. Her second husband, Dr. Silvester Gardiner, was 
a prosperous Boston surgeon. In 1776, his vocal opposition to American 
Independence made him a target of the revolutionaries and the Gar-
diners were forced to flee Boston. They finally settled in Poole, En-
gland, where they became associated with the Lesters.13 Benjamin 
Lester and his brother Isaac owned some of the largest fishing stations 
in Placentia and Trinity bays, as well as dozens of ships, many built in 
Newfoundland.14 William Eppes’s sister, Love, married Benjamin 
Lester’s son, John,15 and it was through Lester’s influence that Eppes 
secured the position of purser in the garrison in St. John’s.16 He also 
became Lester’s agent in Newfoundland.17 Another brother-in-law of 
Eppes, Richard Routh, was married to his sister, Abigail. Routh se-
cured his job as Chief Collector of Customs in St. John’s in 1782 as a 
result of Lester’s recommendation; he later became Chief Justice.18 

In 1790, William Eppes was promoted to Commissary of Provi-
sions, which made him responsible for providing food and other neces-
sities to the hundreds of soldiers stationed in St. John’s.19 This new 
position gave the company he had founded with Marmaduke Hart, in 
1789, a ready market for his imports.20 Eppes also acquired fishing 
premises in the “Quiddy Viddy Division” of St. John’s, where he em-
ployed three servants21 and kept livestock on land behind the hospital 
used by the Royal Newfoundland Regiment of Fencibles, a volunteer 
militia he had helped to create.22 Eppes and his future wife, Elizabeth 
Randolph, were part of Benjamin Lester’s social circle in Poole. Fol-
lowing their 1792 marriage, Eppes brought her to St. John’s, where the 
couple raised two sons and two daughters.23 

A year earlier, in 1791, Alexander Cormack had also married, to 
17-year-old Janet McAuslan (1774–1821). Her father, Robert McAuslan,24 
had come to St. John’s from Glasgow with his wife Grizel (née Wright) 
and their three children in 1776.25 The possibility of bankruptcy had 
driven him [McAuslan] from Scotland, where his debts were such 
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that he was threatened with imprisonment.26 It is believed one of 
Robert McAuslan’s brothers sold property in North Carolina to pay 
off Robert’s Scottish debts.27 In Newfoundland, he appears to have 
been involved in the fishery until another claim from his Glasgow 
days finally forced him into bankruptcy.28 In 1778, he was appointed 
Deputy Postmaster of Newfoundland.29

Alexander and Janet settled in a rented house in the “Third Divi-
sion,” the part of town between Nobles Cove and the Engine House. 
Janet’s parents lived nearby in the “Fourth Division.” At this time St. 
John’s was divided into six “Divisions” running from “River Head” 
(west) to “Chain Rock” (east). The main roads through town were the 
“Lower Path” (now Water Street), which followed parallel to the 
harbour’s northern shoreline, and the “Upper Path” (today’s Duck-
worth Street). According to the census of St. John’s, in 1794–95 the 
Cormacks had one son (Alexander) and a daughter whose name and 
age are not known.30 At that time they had five servants — one female 
and four males — one of whom may have been Sandy (Alexander) 
McAuslan, Janet’s nephew, who was Alexander Cormack’s clerk.31

On 5 May 1796, Janet Cormack gave birth to another boy. The 
couple called him William Eppes Cormack in honour of their friend 
and business associate. Three months later the Cormack’s older son, 
Alexander, died.32 Unsanitary conditions prevailed in St. John’s and 
the family was living in the most crowded division of town, a factor 
that may have contributed to the child’s death. The Cormacks subse-
quently moved to a residence on the western end of the “Second 
Division,” just west of today’s Waldegrave Street. The number of their 
servants was reduced to one female and two males.33 

In July 1797, Alexander received a grant of a little more than 11 
acres of land “about a mile from the [Waterford] river on the north 
side near to and lying to the Westward of Webber or Fortune’s planta-
tion . . . to take and keep [without] being interrupted in the quiet and 
peaceful enjoyment thereof, so long as he shall continue to occupy the 
same for the purpose of carrying on the Fishery.”34 Though Cormack’s 
land grant had nothing to do with the fishing trade, the wording of the 
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grant had to conform to British legislation meant to discourage per-
manent settlement by people who did not work in the fishery. Cor-
mack had asked for the grant because he wanted to raise cattle for 
personal consumption and to sell as beef. He also leased Fir Hill Farm 
in Outer Cove, which was accessible by boat.35 This area was known to 
have good soil and Alexander would have hired servants to do the 
cultivation and harvesting. He thereby followed the trend among mer-
chants and garrison officers who purchased or leased land in the im-
mediate vicinity of St. John’s for agricultural purposes.36 Governor 
William Waldegrave (1797–1800) promoted farming in order to allevi-
ate ongoing food shortages in Newfoundland. He also encouraged 
merchants to set up a market and a slaughterhouse. 37

Food shortages were a major concern at the end of the eighteenth 
century, the result of trade sanctions that England and the United 
States imposed on each other after the American Revolution.38 The 
shortage of food also affected the military garrison, and with it the 
reputation of William Eppes, who was Commissary of Provisions. In 
December 1797, Eppes reported that a large quantity of spoiled food in 
storage at the garrison had been dumped into the harbour and that 
there might not be sufficient supplies for the soldiers for the winter.39 
Eppes then went to England to be with his wife and children, intend-
ing to bring them back to St. John’s from their sojourn there.40 In his 
absence Alexander Cormack was appointed Acting Commissary.41 
This placed him in a difficult position; by January 1798, all available 
food in St. John’s had been bought or requisitioned, with only 10 weeks’ 
supply left in the stores.42 Cormack subsequently spent more than 
3,000 pounds sterling to purchase pork, flour, butter, pease, fish, and 
potatoes from local merchants for the garrison. Governor Waldegrave 
questioned this expense but an investigation showed that the receipts 
were entirely in order.43 

Alexander Cormack appears to have come through the debacle 
unscathed. He may have redeemed the impression that he was extrav-
agant with public funds by volunteering for the Committee for the 
Relief of the Poor and the committee that raised funds for a new 
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Church of England,44 as the old one was so dilapidated that the con-
gregation had to meet in the courthouse.45 Alexander had also been 
able to purchase a moiety (half-share) in Roope’s Plantation on the 
harbour front in the “Second Division.”46 The deed describes it as a 
substantial property “consisting of a Dwelling House, Store, Wharf, 
Cook Room, Flake and Fish House.” Most likely the Cormack family 
moved to the plantation.

In 1795, Janet Cormack’s brother, Peter McAuslan, had bought 
1,500 acres (Lot 32) in Prince Edward Island for 23 pounds sterling.47 
Peter had done well, farming and trading in real estate, and was later 
going to add to his farming enterprise by leasing the western part of 
Rustico Island.48 Sometimes during 1799 or 1800, Janet and Peter’s 
parents, Robert and Grizel McAuslan, joined Peter in Prince Edward 
Island. In St. John’s, the McAuslans had lived in a house owned by 
Edith Brookes but had found the premises untenable. The matter was 
settled in court in McAuslan’s favour,49 but this would have been a 
discouraging experience and might have confirmed their decision to 
leave Newfoundland for good. As it turned out, Robert McAuslan was 
able to purchase town Lot 498 in Charlottetown, Prince Edward Island, 
and secure a land grant for Lot 549 “for no money.”50

From March to December 1800, Rear Admiral Charles Morice 
Pole replaced William Waldegrave as governor.51 He was not as will-
ing as Waldegrave had been to bend the land occupancy rules to sup-
port local food production and ordered Cormack, who had set up the 
slaughterhouse with Waldegrave’s permission, to remove it because it 
was “erected on a vacant fishing room.” Cormack was given just four 
days to bring his cattle to market, which may have caused financial 
losses.52 In his continuing capacity as an active member of the St. 
John’s community, he also had to sort out problems with a new gram-
mar school that had opened for the town’s Protestant elite. Louis 
Amadeus Anspach, a Swiss-born clergyman and educator, had been 
recruited from England on a three-year contract to run the school. But 
as soon as it opened there were insufficient funds, and discord arose 
among the subscribers about fees.53 The affair became so rancorous 
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that Cormack, as treasurer, had to take subscribers to court to be able 
to pay the schoolmaster and his staff.54

By 1800, Alexander and Janet Cormack were celebrating the birth 
of another daughter.55 She was called Janet Grace Cormack, her second 
name honouring her grandmother, Grizel, which is Scots Gaelic for 
Grace.56 In the following year, they welcomed a baby boy into their 
lives. They called him John Bell Cormack after another one of Alex-
ander’s merchant friends who was a partner in the company of 
“Cunningham and Bell.”57 

Alexander seems to have cut back on his jury work that year, al-
though in December he and John Bell were among nine merchants 
who posted a bond for one Thomas Parsons who had been in jail all 
summer awaiting trial, which could not be held until Chief Justice 
Richard Routh returned. However, the ship that had taken Routh to 
England, in December 1801, was lost at sea.58 Benjamin Lester, Eppes’s 
and Routh’s benefactor, died shortly afterwards, in January 1802.59 

Around 1802 the Cormacks lost their eldest daughter. She is listed 
in the 1794–95 and 1796–97 censuses of St. John’s but was not among 
the Cormack children who survived into adulthood.60 The Church of 
England burial registry for that year lists an unprecedented number of 
mostly unnamed children who died of unstated causes.61 Fifty-nine 
children were buried in 1802, whereas only six children were buried in 
1801, and in 1803, when burial records were kept for only six months, 
there were no entries of children. 

There is no record of Alexander doing jury work again until Sep-
tember, 1802, when he was part of a merchants’ committee appointed 
by Routh’s replacement, Chief Justice Thomas Coote.62 He also served 
on the Grand Jury with John Bell and another prominent Scots mer-
chant, David Rennie, who was jury foreman.63 Surrogate Court records 
show that Cormack launched more than 20 court actions between De-
cember 1800 and June 1803 to recover debts amounting altogether to 
800 pounds sterling. As he was unsuccessful in recovering his money in 
several of the lawsuits, these debts not only reflect uncertain economic 
times but also the nature of Cormack’s business partners, who were 
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vulnerable to insolvencies.64 This was in contrast to merchant David 
Rennie, whose name does not appear in these records, and the very 
few writs issued by his merchant company, Stuart & Rennie.65 How-
ever, in the case against James Rakestraw, who owed Cormack and 
other creditors money and whose ship Hannah was seized by the sher-
iff, Cormack took the opportunity to purchase the vessel66 and wasted 
no time dispatching it to fish on the Grand Banks. His brigantine 
Hawk was already trading in the West Indies.67

Alexander Cormack made his last appearance at the St. John’s 
courthouse on 28 June 1803, on a minor debt matter. Less than a month 
later he was no longer alive.68 He would have been 41 years old. His 
death must have been sudden because he died intestate, that is, with-
out a will. 

Janet Cormack: The Relict Years, 1803–05

On 15 August 1803, Janet Cormack made what could have been her first 
visit to the St. John’s courthouse to ask for permission to settle her 
husband’s estate. She was now 29 years old and must have paid attention 
to her husband’s business during their marriage, or she would not have 
considered administering the estate. It was certainly not typical in this 
era for a woman to be the sole executrix of a merchant’s estate. Several 
other individuals listed in the probate records could only sign their 
names with the mark of an x.69 Janet also wanted to ensure that her 
husband’s possessions were given to her as his rightful heir. Luckily for 
her, it had become customary for widows in Newfoundland to inherit 
their husband’s property when there was no will.70 

At the court hearing Chief Justice Thomas Coote presided. Janet 
Cormack had to swear that her husband had “died Intestate and with-
out a Will, having whilst living and owning at the time of his Death 
divers Goods, Chattels, Credits and Effects in the said island of 
Newfoundland.”71 She was granted the all important “Letters of Ad-
ministration” and made executrix of Alexander’s estate on condition 
she return to court within a year to provide “a true and perfect inventory 
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of all the said goods, chattels and credits of the deceased which already 
have, or hereafter shall, come into [her] hands.”72 She was also re-
quired to post a surety set at 5,000 pounds sterling, equal to the esti-
mated value of Alexander’s estate, which would be forfeited if she did 
not follow the court’s orders. 

Two prominent Scottish merchants, Richard Reed and David 
Rennie, who had accompanied her to court, declared their willingness 
to guarantee the surety “of good and lawful money . . . made and levied 
on their Goods and Chattels.”73 Both men were respected members of 
the merchant elite and had served on juries and committees with Al-
exander for almost a decade.74 Rennie may have been recommended 
by John Bell as he was one of Bell’s trusted business associates and had 
already settled a number of estates with no will.75 Janet’s brother, Peter 
McAuslan, who came back from Prince Edward Island during the fall, 
also helped Janet in settling the estate.76 There is no evidence that 
William Eppes came forward to assist.

Janet Cormack returned to court in August 1804 with the required 
information. The will and probate record reveals that her husband of 12 
years had left her well off, but not wealthy: the estate was valued at 
more than 8,000 pounds sterling.77 The brig Hawk had sold its cargo 
for 750 pounds sterling and was then sold for 718 pounds sterling. The 
Hannah had made 220 pounds on its cargo and was sold to Janet’s 
brother, Peter McAuslan, for 132 pounds. Seal skins and oil, bread, fur-
niture and shop goods, the latter sold by McAuslan, netted 2,630 
pounds. The half-share of Roope’s Plantation was valued at 500 pounds 
and the grant of land at River Head at 50 pounds. Shop goods valued 
at 1,500 pounds were still left at the store, and household furniture, 
farming utensils, and stock on the farms were considered to be worth 
663 pounds sterling. Disbursements, including money spent for funeral 
expenses, mourning apparel, and house and farm expenses and repairs 
amounted to 554 pounds. There were also “bad debts.” 78

With cash in hand, Janet offered George Elliot 560 pounds sterling 
for his half-share in Roope’s Plantation, including “all the houses, 
stores, stages, flakes, gardens, wharfs, ways, privileges, refits, rents, 
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issues, advantages, hereditaments, and appurtenances thereto,”79 which 
he accepted. The sales document states that the property was sold 
jointly to Janet, widow of the late Alexander Cormack of St. John’s, and 
to the children of her and her late husband. As executrix, Janet also 
filed nine writs in court to collect on debts, all of which were paid.80

On New Year’s Eve, 1804, Janet Cormack purchased from Robert 
Bollard “a certain field or enclosed meadows containing one acre and 
one Rood of land” near Fort William, including “tenement or premises 
with all its appurtenances, privileges and advantages together with all 
the rents, issues, profits, and improvements thereto.”81 She also leased 
3¼ acres of Crown land for 21 years at a cost of 1 pound 4 pence a 
year.82 At the time, Governor Erasmus Gower (1804–06) was taking 
measures to alleviate the housing shortage in St. John’s and hired 
Thomas George Eastaff to carry out a survey, draw up a town plan, and 
mark out a new road, which became today’s Gower Street.83 Janet’s 
land near Fort William would have been suitable for building lots, but 
the Crown land was located on the outskirts of town, south of Circular 
Road, and could only have been rented out for gardens or for keeping 
cattle. By 1849 this land had reverted to the Crown and become “Gov-
ernment House Domain.”84 

Though it was Richard Reed and David Rennie who supported 
Janet in her court appearances, Janet’s brother, Peter McAuslan, as-
sisted her in the long-term task of winding down Alexander’s business 
affairs. With almost 1,500 pounds worth of shop goods still in store, he 
continued offering Alexander’s stock for sale from an establishment in 
St. John’s.85 He also issued “penny tokens” inscribed with his name and 
“sells all sorts of shop & store goods.”86 In 1805 Peter sent haberdash-
ery, furniture, and shop goods, along with the usual salt, rum, molas-
ses, and fish, to Prince Edward Island.87 To recover money owed to his 
brother-in-law’s family,88 he filed more than 20 writs between 1804 
and 1807.89 

In the fall of 1805 the young William Eppes Cormack acquired a 
stepfather. Janet Cormack travelled with her three children to Edin-
burgh where she married David Rennie, who had moved there in the 



newfoundland and labrador studies, 31, 1 (2016)
1719-1726

88

Marshall and Macpherson    

spring. He maintained his partnership with Stuart and Rennie by 
working in the company’s office in Greenock.

David Rennie’s origins, like Alexander Cormack’s, remain some-
thing of a mystery.90 What is known is that he joined James Stuart of 
Scotland in 1790 to form a company called Stuart & Rennie, the third 
Scottish firm to establish a permanent trade between Scotland and 
Newfoundland; it later grew into one of the largest Scottish trading 
companies.91 David Rennie became the firm’s St. John’s agent.92 There 
is evidence that he was previously married to Jean Crawford and had 
a son, Joseph, born 14 January 1797.93 Jean’s sister Margaret94 was mar-
ried to Robert Orr; the couple named their eldest child David Ranie95 
and Robert Orr called David Rennie his brother.96 David Rennie is 
not listed in the St. John’s censuses for 1794–95 and 1796–97, which 
suggests that he lived at that time in Scotland.97 However, the Glasgow 
register does not list David Rennie as merchant but as cloth lapper, an 
occupation also attached to a name listed above David Rennie. Most 
likely, this was an error. David Rennie was 41 years old when he mar-
ried the 32-year-old widow, Janet Cormack.98

Sailing from St. John’s to Scotland, in optimal weather conditions, 
typically took three weeks, but could last four or five. It would have 
been the first time that nine-year-old William had a taste of ocean 
travel onboard one of the larger sailing vessels of the day, an experience 
he repeated many times during his roving life. Once they disembarked 
in Greenock the family would have had to travel to their destination 
of Edinburgh by coach. They stayed with John Wright, a relative on 
Janet’s mother’s side, who had a shop in the “Old City.”99 Before the 
wedding could take place Janet had to prove that she had “resided 
upwards of six weeks in Edinburgh.”100 

David and Janet’s marriage ceremony took place on 23 April 1806 
and was entered in St. Cuthbert’s Parish register as: “David Rennie, 
Merchant, St. Andrews Church Parish, and Janet MacAuslan or 
Cormack, St. Cuthbert’s Parish, relict101 of Alexander Cormack.”102 



newfoundland and labrador studies, 31, 1 (2016)
1719-1726

89

William Eppes Cormack (1796–1868)

William Eppes Cormack’s Years in Newfoundland and Scotland, 
1805–18

By the fall of 1806 David Rennie took his family back to St. John’s, 
where they may have moved into a property later known as “Castle 
Rennie.” David had purchased it in 1801 for 500 pounds sterling, pre-
sumably as an investment to be rented out.103 It faced Signal Hill Road 
and included a dwelling house and outbuildings, “trees, woods, gar-
dens, and waterways.” David continued to be the Newfoundland agent 
for Stuart & Rennie104 and acquired for the company a plantation on 
the “French Shore and in Labrador” from John Widdicombe, for 737 
pounds sterling.105 Stuart & Rennie also bought land at Outer Cove 
with direct access to the sea at a cost of 521 pounds.106 The site com-
prised Fir Hill Farm, which had previously been leased by the late 
Alexander Cormack. Owning land in the vicinity of St. John’s seems 
to have been considered a good investment. On his own account, Rennie 
purchased a plantation at Maggoty Cove Hill, on the east end of St. 
John’s harbour, though he sold it a couple of years later.107 Rennie once 
again served on the Grand Jury.108

In 1807 Janet gave birth to a son who was named after her hus-
band, David Stuart Rennie. A second son, born in 1809, called James, 
received the middle name “Gower” in honour of Governor Erasmus 
Gower.109 

With two more sons added to the family the problems of good 
health services and educational opportunities may have become acute. 
Deteriorating social services and living conditions in St. John’s may 
have led to the decision to return to Scotland. The town had “no sys-
tem of education . . . or hospitals, sanitation, organized road systems, 
or fire services.”110 The population was growing, mainly through settlers 
from Ireland, which strained the few social services that existed.111 By 
1810, Janet was expecting another child and this may have been the 
catalyst for the couple to leave Newfoundland since David Rennie 
could conduct business on either side of the Atlantic. On his departure 
for Scotland, Peter McAuslan took over as interim agent for Stuart & 
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Rennie until James Stuart arrived in the fall of 1810,112 at which time 
McAuslan returned to Prince Edward Island.

Prince Edward Island became another focus of business for the 
Rennie-Cormack family, possibly inspired by Peter McAuslan’s expe-
riences. In 1810, David Rennie purchased Lot 23 northwest of Char-
lottetown. The land fronted the Gulf of St. Lawrence and included the 
area where New Glasgow was later established.113 The island had 
opened large areas for development, which were often purchased by 
absentee landlords who, in turn, attracted settlers willing to clear the 
forest and cultivate the land.114 Peter McAuslan, who was already liv-
ing in PEI, was the obvious choice for administrator of this new prop-
erty, and in 1811 David Rennie gave him power of attorney “to Renew 
Leases, Collect Rent etc.” on Lot 23.115 

Rennie left “Castle Rennie” in the hands of the agent Geo. Burton, 
who had sold him the property in 1801. In 1810, Burton was hoping to 
use the dwelling house for a school and let it be known that he intended 
to teach 20 to 75 children reading, writing, and arithmetic.116 Several 
years later, he advertised “Castle Rennie” for rent, describing the prop-
erty as large enough for two tenements or dwellings, and fruit trees, a 
poultry yard, stabling for six horses, a frost-proof cellar, and a never- 
failing well.117 “Castle Rennie” became a St. John’s landmark well beyond 
Rennie’s time in Newfoundland.118 It changed hands a couple of times 
and the current St. Joseph’s Convent on Signal Hill Road is believed to 
have been built on the precincts of “Castle Rennie.”119

Janet kept the properties she had acquired as a legacy for Alexan-
der’s children, William Eppes, Janet Grace, and John Bell Cormack. 
She would have rented out Roope’s Plantation, and most likely also 
the fenced meadow near Fort William120 as well as the land granted to 
her in 1805. She probably left the administration of her rental proper-
ties in the hands of Stuart and Rennie — at least James Stuart is on 
record for paying a fee on her behalf for the grant in 1814.121

On their arrival in Scotland, the Rennie family settled in Glasgow, 
though David probably maintained an office in Greenock.122 In Sep-
tember 1810, Janet gave birth to a baby girl. She was christened on 14 
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September as Janet Emma Rennie.123 In the following years, the Rennies 
welcomed two more sons into their family: William Frederick Rennie, 
born in February 1812,124 and Robert Rennie, born in April 1814.125 

According to his obituary, William Eppes Cormack “delighted to 
recount his boyish rambles amidst the pleasing and classic scenery of 
Southern Scotland.”126 During one of his holiday excursions he visited 
Robert Burns’s widow, Bonnie Jean, in Dumfries, “which formed a 
green spot in his memory which often blossomed into facetious pleas-
antry at congenial gatherings.”127 There is a possibility that Robert 
Burns was related to David Rennie and that William’s visit with Bonnie 
Jean came about as a result of this connection.128 

The Rennie family made use of the fine educational opportunities 
offered in Glasgow and Edinburgh. William Eppes Cormack, aged 15 
in May 1811, attended Glasgow University in 1811–12 and 1812–13 to 
study Greek, a language required for a classical education. In 1813–14 
he was listed for a class in “Logica.”129 Edinburgh University records 
only list him as a student in 1825. But he must have attended classes in 
natural sciences, particularly geology and mineralogy, under the well-
known scholar Professor Robert Jameson earlier.130 He certainly 
showed himself to be knowledgeable in these subjects by the time he 
crossed Newfoundland in 1822, and it was Professor Jameson who 
assisted him in identifying the rocks he had collected on the way.131 
According to his obituary, “he was fortunate enough to secure the per-
sonal friendship of Professor Jameson.”132 His brother, John Bell Cor-
mack, joined William at Glasgow University in 1812 for a “humanity 
class.”133 William’s half-brothers David Stuart, William Frederick, and 
Robert Rennie were attending Glasgow University as well.134 Between 
1820 and 1828 David took courses in Latin, Greek, and Logic, William 
Frederick in Latin, Greek, Ethics, and Physics, and Robert in Greek. 

With the exception of Robert and James Gower, the Cormack and 
Rennie brothers also matriculated at Edinburgh University, attending 
classes in Literature, John and David also in Law,135 and William in 
Chemistry, a class also attended by Charles Darwin.136 
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William Eppes Cormack and the Business Years, 1818–21

In 1818, when William Eppes Cormack was 22 years old, his stepfather, 
David Rennie, considered him ready to take over part of his business. 
Cormack was to go to PEI to make preparations on Lot 23 before the 
arrival of the Scottish settlers. He set off in 1818137 to ready the land for 
occupancy. This would have involved a division into parcels of between 
90 and 150 acres. He may also have organized the harvest of pine and 
hardwood for export.138 Realizing the potential value of landownership, 
Cormack bought, for five pounds, five acres of land at the south side of 
Rustico Bay, which included part of township No. 33.139 In January 
1818, David Rennie entered into another business arrangement on the 
Island, paying Peter McAuslan 1,000 pounds for a mortgage on the 
“Peter’s Island Farm” in Rustico Bay. McAuslan was left in full 
possession of the property under the obligation to pay back the 
principal sum with interest to regain full title.140 McAuslan had leased 
the western part of Rustico Island (also known as Peter’s Island) in 
1802 from James Montgomery, Baronet in Scotland, and James 
Douglas, Comptroller in PEI “for 1000 years.”141 The farming venture, 
however, was not a success, and a few years later McAuslan advertised 
his farm “to be let or sold, in whole or in part.”142 

By April 1819, W.E. Cormack was back in Glasgow, where David 
Rennie gave him power of attorney143 with the indication to return to 
PEI. Cormack was thereby authorized to “sell and dispose of such parts 
there as are un-occupied . . . for such rents as he may see most fit for my 
Interest.” These had been his Uncle Peter McAuslan’s duties under the 
agreements of 1811, which presumably had not been fully carried out. 
There were also “certain disputes which have arisen between me [David 
Rennie] and several of my Tenants . . . respecting their right of occu-
pancy and arrears of rent due,” which Cormack was to settle amicably.144 
Recognizing Cormack’s inexperience in these matters, Rennie included 
the proviso that he was to “take the Advice and Council of William 
Johnston Esquire, His Majesty’s Attorney General.” 

The first Scottish settlers, numbering about 200, arrived on the 



newfoundland and labrador studies, 31, 1 (2016)
1719-1726

93

William Eppes Cormack (1796–1868)

Morning Field on 2 September 1819.145 Another 85 settlers followed in 
May 1820 on the Alexander of Greenock, a 169-ton brig owned by Da-
vid Rennie.146 The Alexander returned to Greenock with a cargo of 100 
tons of pine and three tons of hardwood.147 The settlers may have landed 
at Charlottetown, from where they would have had to trek overland 
on poor or non-existent roads. Proper roads were not built until years 
later — one of them is called “Rennies Road” to this day.148

The settlers were initially tenants of parcels of land, though some of 
them were later able to purchase their lots. John MacGregor, one-time 
member of the House of Assembly in PEI and High Sheriff, described 
these settlements in his Observations on Emigration to British America as 
very successful.149 In a letter to MacGregor, William Cormack stated: 
“to secure a foundation to that Settlement, I . . . supplied their wants so 
far as to enable them to labour on the land without working for others 
[to earn cash], and, by this measure to make them feel attached to it as 
their own.”150 The settlers were not expected to repay the supplies that 
were advanced but ultimately paid in rent increases as the land became 
more valuable through the improvements. In a retrospective about the 
early years, Dickieson, one of the early pioneers, recalled that the set-
tlers were not only clearing the land for cultivating crops; they also 
made money by selling lumber and building ships. Robert Orr, David 
Rennie’s brother-in-law, and his sons became well-known sailors and 
builders of schooners and square-rigged vessels.151 

Even before the arrival of the first group of settlers, Cormack was 
in Charlottetown to serve on a 12-man jury.152 Recognized as one of 
the players in the development of PEI, in 1820 he was named to “a new 
Commission of the Peace.”153 In October 1820, he was reappointed as a 
magistrate and listed in the PEI Gazette with “Township No. 23” at-
tached to his name.154 Following the death of George iii in 1820, Cor-
mack was one of the signatories on the Island’s Oath of Allegiance to 
His Majesty George iv as one of the “Magistrates, Public Officers, 
Gentlemen and respectable inhabitants.”155 As a male between 16 and 
60 years of age, Cormack was also under obligation to bear arms and 
attend military musters and exercises in the Volunteer Militia. In 
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December 1820 he was assigned to the Queens County Regiment as 
Captain of the Grenadier Company at Rustico in the 1st Battalion.156

The settlement of Lot 23 seems to have gone well, and in time this 
lot became one of the most populated sections in the province.157 Cor-
mack was able to resolve outstanding disputes about occupancy and 
arrears of rent, though in some cases he had to take a tenant to court 
to collect debts.158 He also purchased parcels of land on his own ac-
count. In 1820 Peter McAuslan sold him Lots 470, 549, and 556 in the 
Royalty of Charlottetown,159 and in 1821 Cormack purchased a further 
six pasture lots totalling 72 acres.160 He also acquired half of town Lot 
8 and half of Lot 9 in Charlottetown.161 Cormack was successfully 
integrated into the business and civic life of the Island, but in 1821 
another journey began. 

Conclusion

In June 1821, Cormack learned of his beloved mother’s death the month 
before of anemia.162 She was 46 years old, and outlived by eight of her 
10 children. Cormack left PEI sometime in the winter of 1821–22 to 
return to St. John’s, the place of his nativity and where he had spent his 
early childhood years. He was now 25 years old, a man of proven ability, 
and ready to attend to business interests in connection with his mother’s 
properties in St. John’s, which she had placed into a trust disposition 
for the three Cormack children: William Eppes, Janet Grace, and John 
Bell.163 Within a few months of his return, William Eppes Cormack 
was inspired to trek across Newfoundland’s interior to explore its 
natural conditions and geography. On the way, he also hoped to meet 
the Aboriginal inhabitants of the island, whom he called the Red 
Indians.164 Seven years later, after another trek inland in search of the 
Beothuk165 and the founding of the Boeothick Institution, Cormack 
left Newfoundland never to return.166 However, four of his step-
siblings later moved to St. John’s. In 1832, James Gower and William 
Frederick Rennie founded Rennie’s Mill,167 and David Stuart168 and 
Janet Emma169 married members of the Hoyles family in St. John’s. 
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